

1
2
3 **CHAPTER BY- LAWS**
4

5 **NORTH ALABAMA CHAPTER – Chapter # 065**
6 **Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA)**
7

8 As Amended May, 2009
9

10 **ARTICLE I** **NAME**
11

12 The name of this non-union, non-profit organization shall be the ISACA North Alabama Chapter (hereinafter referred to
13 as "Chapter"), a Chapter affiliated with the Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA), hereinafter
14 referred to as the "Association". The Chapter, apart from its innate affiliation with the international Association, is an
15 independent entity from any other association, enterprise, or entity.
16

17 **ARTICLE II** **PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVE**
18

19 The primary purpose of the Chapter is to promote the education of individuals for the improvement and development of
20 their capabilities relating to the auditing of and/or management consulting in the field of IT governance, IS audit, security
21 and control. The objectives of the Chapter are:

- 22 • To promote the education of, and help expand the knowledge and skills of its members in the interrelated fields of
23 auditing, quality assurance, security, IS audit and control, and IT governance;
- 24 • To encourage an open exchange of IS audit and control, quality assurance, and security techniques, approaches,
25 and problem solving by its members;
- 26 • To promote adequate communication to keep members abreast of current events in IS audit and control, quality
27 assurance, and security fields that can be of benefit to them and their employers;
- 28 • To communicate to management, auditors, universities, and to IS professionals the importance of establishing
29 controls necessary to ensure the effective organization and utilization of IT resources, and;
- 30 • To promote the Association's professional certifications and IT governance.
31

32 **ARTICLE III** **MEMBERSHIP**
33

34 Section 1: Classifications and Qualifications: Membership in the Association is a requirement for membership in a
35 Chapter. Therefore, upon joining the Chapter, a person must also join the Association, with
36 accompanying rights and responsibilities.
37

- 38 A. Member - any person interested in the purpose and objectives of the Chapter as stated in Article II shall be
39 eligible for membership in the Chapter, and the Association, subject to rules established by the Association
40 Board. Members shall be entitled to vote and hold office.
41
- 42 B. Retired Member - any member who presents proof of retirement status, subject to rules established by the
43 Association Board. Retired members shall be entitled to vote and hold office at the Chapter level.
44
- 45 C. Student Member - full-time student currently enrolled in a degree program of an accredited college or university,
46 subject to rules established by the Association Board. Proof of enrollment shall be submitted annually to the
47 Association. Student members shall not be entitled to vote and hold office at the Chapter level.
48

49 Section 2: Admissions
50

- 51 A. Potential members shall:
 - 52 1. Meet the requirements of membership as outlined in Article III, Section 1.
 - 53 2. Complete an Association membership application form.
 - 54 3. Pay required dues to the Chapter and the Association.
 - 55 4. Follow the Code of Professional Ethics of the Association.
 - 56
- 57 B. Membership in the Association shall be conferred upon an individual when the Association has received the
58 required Association dues for that individual.
59
60
61

62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
00
01
02
03
04
05
06
07
08
09
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

Section 3: Dues

- A. Chapter dues shall be payable on or before 1 January of each year, in an amount determined by the Chapter Board, plus Association dues.
- B. A member whose dues are in arrears for more than 60 days shall no longer be deemed a member.
- C. A member shall forfeit membership if dues have not been paid to the Association and to the Chapter as required.
- D. Any member who resigns shall not be entitled to a refund of his/her annual membership dues.

ARTICLE IV FINANCES

Section 1: Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of this chapter shall be from June 1 through May 31.

ARTICLE V CHAPTER BOARD

Section 1: The Chapter Board shall consist of the Officers and Immediate Past President of this chapter all of whom shall be elected each year and shall serve until their successors shall have been elected. Each Officer and Director shall serve no more than four (4) consecutive elective years in the same office.

Section 2: If the office of any Director, specified in Section I of this Article, shall become vacant for any cause, a majority of the remaining members of the Chapter Board then in office, shall appoint a chapter member to fill the unexpired portion of his term.

Section 3: A two-thirds vote of the Chapter Board then in office, can remove any chapter Officer or Board member from the Chapter Board. Any chapter Officer or Director who misses three Chapter Board meetings or misses any combination of five chapter and Chapter Board meetings during the year will be subject to removal by a two-thirds vote of the Chapter Board. The dropped Officer or Director will then be replaced in accordance with chapter By-Laws.

Section 4: The Chapter Board duties and responsibilities shall include:

- a. The Chapter Board shall be the governing body of this chapter and its actions shall be final, unless otherwise specifically provided by these By-Laws.
- b. The Chapter Board shall be required to review and approve all available chapter financial statements at regularly scheduled Chapter Board Meetings. It is recommended that the prior month's financial statements be reviewed and approved at each monthly Chapter Board Meeting.
- c. The Chapter Board shall provide for a fiscal year-end independent financial audit, performed by a Certified Public Accountant. This audit is intended to verify the fairness of presentation of the chapter's financial statements as well as commenting on the condition of the chapter's financial records and associated accounting procedures. Additionally, the Chapter Board may authorize an audit of the chapter's financial records, at anytime it deem advisable, by obtaining a majority vote in favor of having a financial audit performed.

Section 5: Each Director shall serve as Chairman of such standing committees as may be assigned by the President, and ratified by, the Chapter Board. The Chairman of the Program Committee will be the chapter Vice President unless changed by the chapter President.

Section 6: Only members shall be eligible to serve on the Board. Student Members are not eligible to serve.

23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83

Section 7: Meetings

- a. The Chapter Board shall meet at least quarterly at a time and place selected by the Chapter Board.
- b. Meetings may be called at any time by the President or three members of the Chapter Board.
- c. For the transaction of business requiring a vote, a majority of the Chapter Board then in office shall constitute a quorum.
- d. At all meetings of the Chapter Board, the President, if present, shall act as Chairman. In his absence the Chairman shall be the Vice President, if present. In the absence of both the President and the Vice President, the Secretary shall preside until the election of chairman pro tem, which should take place immediately. The members of the Chapter Board who are present in person shall, by majority vote, choose one among them to act as Chairman for that meeting.
- e. Notice of meetings of the Chapter Board shall be given to each Director in writing not less than two days in advance of the meeting or as the Chapter Board may otherwise direct, but no failure in delivery of such notices shall invalidate the meeting or any action taken or proceedings thereat. Notice may be waived by unanimous consent of the Directors in writing.

ARTICLE VI OFFICERS AND DUTIES

Section 1: The Officers of this chapter shall be President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer.

Section 2: Duties of the President

The President shall:

- Preside at all meetings of the Chapter and the Chapter Board
- Appoint, with the approval of the Chapter Board, all committee chairpersons and committee members
- Be an ex-officio member of all committees except the Auditing and Nominating Committee
- Represent the Chapter at Leadership Conference/Presidents Council Meeting(s)
- Maintain communications with the Association and respond to Association inquiries
- Be responsible for submission of the chapter annual report to the Association within 30 days after the annual general meeting
- Supervise budgetary matters and proper internal control of finances

Section 3: Duties of the Vice President

The Vice President shall report to the President and in the absence of or disability of the President shall perform all the duties of the President. The Vice President shall be the Chairman of the Program Committee.

Section 4: Treasurer

The Treasurer shall report to the President and shall be responsible for the financial affairs of the chapter, for the performance of all duties incident to the office of the Treasurer and such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him by the Chapter Board. He shall have power to receive and to disburse such funds of the chapter, subject to such restrictions as may be imposed by the Chapter Board, as shall be required in the conduct of its affairs and the carrying of its activities.

84
85 The Treasurer will be required to perform the following financial reporting activities during the chapter's
86 business year (June 1st through May 31st).
87

- 88 a. Prepare monthly, financial statements (i.e. General Ledger Journal, Balance Sheet, and
89 Income Statement).
90
91 b. Provide each Board Member with monthly financial statements, along with a supporting
92 monthly Receipts and Disbursements Schedule, at the following month's Chapter Board
93 Meeting.
94
95 c. Financial statements for the July 1st through the August 31st time period will be presented at
96 the September Chapter Board Meeting.
97
98 d. Additionally, the Treasurer will be responsible for collecting, recording, and accounting for all
99 monies of all chapter meetings and socials.
.00

.01 During the chapter business year the Treasurer will be required to establish the reporting dates for all
.02 required chapter financial and tax information to International ISACA. The Treasurer will be responsible
.03 for making the chapter's financial records and financial statements available for the chapter's May 31st
.04 audit. The financial information shall be made available to the Auditor(s) no later than 20 business days
.05 after the financial reporting period is reached. Finally, the Treasurer will respond to each audit period's
.06 audit report within 20 business days after receiving the audit report.
.07

.08 **Section 5: Secretary**

.09
.10 The Secretary shall report to the President and shall be responsible for the legal affairs; chapter reports,
.11 membership records, and such other duties as may be authorized and delegated by the Chapter Board.
.12

.13 The Secretary shall keep the roll of the Membership of the chapter; shall keep minutes of the
.14 proceedings at the Regular Membership and Chapter Board meetings; shall preserve communications
.15 pertaining to the affairs of the chapter.
.16

.17 **Section 6: Only members shall be eligible to serve as an officer.**
.18
.19

.20 **ARTICLE VII CHAPTER STANDING COMMITTEES**

.21
.22 **Section 1: The Chapter's Standing Committees shall be the:**

.23
.24 Program Committee,
.25 Membership and Publications Committee,
.26 Auditing and Nominating Committee,
.27 Meetings Committee
.28 Certifications Committee
.29

- .30 a. Each Director shall serve as Chairman of such standing committees as may be assigned by the
.31 President, and ratified by the Chapter Board. The Chairman of the Program Committee will be
.32 the chapter Vice President unless changed by the chapter President. The Treasurer shall not
.33 chair or be a member of the Auditing and Nominating Committee.
.34
.35 b. Each Committee Chairman shall appoint the members of his committee.
.36
.37

.38 **Section 2: The Program Committee shall report to the President and shall be responsible for preparing and**
.39 **recommending the chapter programs for the year, including a schedule of meeting dates, obtaining**
.40 **speakers for all programs, presiding at the speaker's program at each meeting, and maintaining a**
.41 **library of program topics and speakers. The Committee shall have each monthly meeting speaker**
.42 **identified no later than 60 days prior to the chapter meeting. The speakers, speaking dates, and**
.43 **speech topics will be made available to the Chapter Board prior to the chapter meeting.**
.44

- .45
.46 Section 3: The Membership and Publications Committee shall report to the President and shall be responsible for
.47 publicizing all chapter activities during the program year, assisting in publicizing major events and
.48 accomplishments of the Association, supporting and publishing the Chapter Website, developing and
.49 recommending chapter editorial policies, soliciting articles for the Chapter Website.
.50
.51 Section 4: The Auditing and Nominating Committee shall report to the Chapter Board and shall be responsible for
.52 coordinating a fiscal year-end audit with an independent Certified Public Accountant. The Auditing and
.53 Nominating Committee may also audit the chapter's books anytime there is a change of officers,
.54 whether the change is as a result of an election or vacancy. All audit findings shall be reported by the
.55 Auditing and Nominating Committee to the Chapter Board. The Auditing and Nominating Committee
.56 shall also be responsible for soliciting suggestions for likely candidates for the next slate of officers and
.57 Chapter Board at least sixty (60) days prior to the May meeting.
.58
.59 Section 5: The Meetings Committee shall report to the President and shall be responsible for coordinating the
.60 arrangements of facilities and food for each chapter meeting. The Meetings Committee shall also be
.61 responsible for the processing of attendees at each chapter meeting.
.62
.63 Section 6: The Certifications Committee shall make known existing programs of continuing professional education
.64 for members of this chapter. This committee shall be responsible for coordinating the offering of
.65 preparation courses for the various certification exams, i.e. CISA, CISM and CGEIT. This committee is
.66 also responsible for all other administrative duties of the Board, such as acquiring the speaker gifts and
.67 awards for all chapter meetings.
.68
.69 Section 7: Other committees may be appointed by the President whenever deemed necessary, subject to the
.70 approval of the Chapter Board.
.71
.72 Section 8: Committee Chairman can be replaced at the discretion of the President, subject to approval by the
.73 Chapter Board, and committee members can be replaced at the discretion of Committee Chairman.
.74

.75
.76 **ARTICLE VIII** **CHAPTER FINANCIAL AUDIT**
.77

- .78 Section 1: The fiscal year end audit will be performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant selected by
.79 the Auditing and Nominating Committee and approved by a majority of the Chapter Board.
.80
.81 Section 2: It shall be the responsibility of the Auditing and Nominating Committee to coordinate obtaining the
.82 chapter's financial records with the chapter Treasurer.
.83
.84 It shall be the Treasurer's responsibility to have the chapter's financial records available for audit no
.85 later than 20 business days after a calendar or fiscal year end has been reached.
.86
.87 Section 3: All Chapter financial audit scopes shall include an opinion of the fairness of presentation of the chapter
.88 financial statements and provide, where necessary, recommendations for improved internal control or
.89 operational procedures.
.90
.91 Section 4: The chapter Treasurer will be required to respond to chapter audit finding reports within 20 business
.92 days after receiving such a report.
.93

.94
.95 **ARTICLE IX** **NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS**
.96

- .97 Section 1: An election of all Officers and Directors shall be held at the regular May meeting of the chapter.
.98
.99 Section 2: Nominations
00
01 a. The Auditing and Nominating Committee shall present, subject to the approval of the Chapter
02 Board, a list of nominations for all Officers and Directors to the membership at the regular May
03 meeting of the chapter.
04
05 b. Other nominations may be made from the floor.

